
 

May 2, 2016 Meeting Minutes as approved by the Planning Board 6/6/16          1 of 6 

   

 

 

TOWN OF WARNER – PLANNING BOARD 
Meeting Minutes 

May 2, 2016         7:00 PM 

Warner Town Hall, Lower Level 
Members Present: Chairman Ben Frost, Vice Chair Barbara Annis, Don Hall, Ken 

Milender, Selectman’s Representative John Dabuliewicz, Ben Inman, Alternates James 

Gaffney and Peter Anderson. 

Members Absent: Aedan Sherman, Alternate Darryl Parker 

Land Use Secretary: Lois Lord 

1. OPEN MEETING 

Vice Chairman Frost opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m.   

2. ROLL CALL 

Roll call was taken with two members absent, and eight present. Ben Frost asked James Gaffney to sit in for 

Aedan Sherman. 

3. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 
Chairman Frost brought forth the meeting minutes of 4/4/16 for the Planning Boards approval. A few items 

were noted for correction. A MOTION to approve the minutes as amended was made by Barbara Annis, 

seconded by Ken Milender. A voice vote was taken with a unanimous yes. 

4. OLD BUSINESS 

Application Review Process – Chairman Frost noted that he had met with Lois to talk about improving the flow 

of the application review process as discussed by the Board at the last meeting. The conclusion was to have Board 

members come in to review applications in the window of time between the submission of the application and the 

public notice so that we can inform applicants of any potential deficiencies. Chairman Frost said that will be 

facilitated by an impending statute change which we will talk about a little later.   

Follow up on Letter to Atlasta – Chairman Frost stated the Land Use Office sent a letter to the owners of Atlasta, 

who were present and Ben asked them to take a seat before the Board. Joe Mendola and Diane Jamieson stated 

they are the managing members of A Warner Storage, LLC formerly known as Atlasta Storage.  

Chairman Frost stated it was brought to the Planning Boards attention that they were putting up additional 

buildings pursuant to the site plan that was approved a while back. The concern was raised that the buildings that 

were built according to the building permit did not conform to the site plan that was approved by the Planning 

Board. He asked Mr. Mendola for his plans and suggested they might need to submit a revised plan for their file. 

Mr. Mendola replied that in retrospect he felt he owed the Planning Board an apology and should have come back 

before them. They had a plan for another 13,000 square feet and as long as that was less than what was approved 

they thought they were good to go. Their plans as the demand increase are to expand the site no greater than the 

square footage that was approved. Mr. Mendola noted that this lot sits on 7.5 acres of land and they took great care 

in making sure the drainage was away from the property. The site is built on two tiers and the piece down below 

was built out with consistent separation between the buildings.  

Chairman Frost asked for questions or thoughts from the Board. Barbara Annis said with the additional building 

they have no knowledge of what the footage is between the present building and the new building and asked if is 

something the fire trucks can get through. Mr. Mendola said it is the same 25 feet which is the distance on the tier 

below. 

He continued by saying his business is building and developing self-storage all over New England and he has been 

doing it for 20 years. When they develop them, they make sure there is 25 feet of separation which can handle 

most fire trucks. Ms. Jamieson stated that when they built the first building on the second tier, they had an 

engineer make sure the whole area was designed for tractor trailer access so there is plenty of room.  

Chairman Frost said that he feels it would be beneficial to have an as-built plan for the file and asked Mr. Mendola 



 

May 2, 2016 Meeting Minutes as approved by the Planning Board 6/6/16          2 of 6 

   

 

and Ms. Jamieson if they would be willing to have that done and they agreed. Ben noted that this board could 

accept that as a modification to the approval so that the owners can be assured they will be covered in the future. 

Follow up on Letter to Ajax Auto – Larry Turcotte, property owner was present and introduced himself. 

Chairman Frost said over the years there had been a couple of complaints about the use of his property and those 

have been addressed but there continue to be some lingering concerns brought to the board, in particular by the 

Warner West Association. It has not been determined who that is as the town offices have only received emails 

from them. 

Ben continued that Mr. Turcotte has approvals from the ZBA and an approved Home Occupancy Permit from the 

Board of Selectmen both granted in 2006. In 2013 the Land Use Office responded to some issues and more 

recently, the former Chairman of the Planning Board Rick Davies expressed concern that there is a possible 

violation of the Zoning Board Decision from years ago. Chairman Frost said we are trying to sort this out and 

asked for Mr. Turcottes help in clarifying his intentions of the use of his property. 

Mr. Turcotte replied that he wasn’t sure what the issues are other than too many vehicles on the lot. He stated that 

over the winter many cars were brought for repairs and abandoned by their owners and their number grew to more 

than he wanted. He had been planning on tracking the owners down and since receiving the letter from the Land 

Use Office, 10 cars have gone. He tries to be a good neighbor and keeps the place orderly and clean. 

Chairman Frost asked the Planning Board if they had any specific concerns and said they have been given a 

synopsis of the communications received and sent on this issue. Don Hall said his comment is for the Planning 

Board and the Land Use Secretary and wondered about the previous owner, Mr. Lamora and noted Mr. Turcottes 

business doesn’t appear to be much different from what Mr. Lamoras was. If there is documentation of Mr. 

Lamoras business he would like to compare it to see if there are any deviations.  

Lois stated she looked for records on this property by Map and Lot numbers and found Mr. Turcottes 

Determination of Site Plan and Zoning Board Variance file. There may be something in the meeting minutes in 

those files regarding Mr. Lamora and she will do more research.  

Selectman Dabuliewicz read from Article IV, Number 8 in the Statement of Compliance that had been submitted 

by Mr. Turcotte with the Home Occupancy Permit application which reads 8. No commercial vehicles with this 

business. Parking for one to three vehicles is necessary. He said he doesn’t entirely understand what that means 

but is assuming that was Rick Davies concern and asked Mr. Turcotte what he understood that to mean.  Chairman 

Frost offered clarity and said that statement is really ambiguous as to the type of vehicles. 

James Gaffney commented that he drives past that property every day and it’s always neat and tidy. He noted he 

didn’t know it was a repair business because of how neat it is. Further discussion was had on the Statement of 

Compliance, the ZBA Variance that was granted and had no conditions, and that discussion at the ZBA meeting 

noted not more than one vehicle for sale could be on the premises. Mr. Turcotte stated he has never had any 

vehicles for sale.  

Chairman Frost referred to the timeline of the property and that in October 2013 the Land Use Office in response 

to the Town Administrator, observed the property and stated there did not appear to be any vehicles for sale, that 

there were a total of 12 motor vehicles on the site, and an auto parts delivery van was seen leaving the site. The 

Board of Selectmen then emailed the Warner West Association stating no violation had been found per the Notice 

of Decision. 

Chairman Frost said it seems to him that what Mr. Turcotte is doing now is consistent with what he was doing 

three years ago. Mr. Turcotte replied he admits this past winter the cars did pile up but he has rectified that 

problem. Chairman Frost said he is not hearing any real concerns from the Board and has none himself. There is 

apparently someone in the vicinity of this property who is bothered by what Mr. Turcotte is doing but that appears 

to be fully within the limits of the permits he has gotten from the town. There was discussion on the Warner West 

Association, that no record had been found of them on the Secretary of States site of such an organization formed 

under the laws of NH with that name, and that it must be someone who has adopted a pen name for the purposes 

of filing these emails with the town. 

Peter Anderson asked Mr. Turcotte how many vehicles he typically has on the site, excluding the winter when 



 

May 2, 2016 Meeting Minutes as approved by the Planning Board 6/6/16          3 of 6 

   

 

vehicles get left there by owners. Mr. Turcotte replied 8-12. Selectman Dabuliewicz asked if those are there until 

they are repaired and picked up and Mr. Turcotte said most of them, a couple of them are his personal project 

vehicles. Selectman Dabuliewicz clarified that none of his neighbors had contacted him directly with complaints.  

Chairman Frost asked if the Board had any other concerns and there were none. He said as far as he is concerned 

this issue is done. James Gaffney asked about the email from Warner West Association, that this an anonymous 

source and if we went back to the original email there would be an IP Address which would tell us if it was sent 

locally. Selectman Dabuliewicz suggested sending an email to the Warner West Association and asking them in to 

meet with the Board.  All were in agreement and the Land Use Secretary was asked to do that.  

Selectman Dabuliewicz referred to the Application Review Process which was discussed earlier and asked what 

process Chairman Frost and Lois had arrived at. Ben replied there is nothing firm yet and we really need an 

application to come in to move forward with it. Selectman Dabuliewicz noted there was a statement in the email 

from Matt Monahan describing the process that Bow uses as follows: Bow uses a situation where the checklist review 

meeting occurs before formal application submittal. This is required by their regulations. Department head commentary 

comes in written form. They have a full time planner who has an assistant. 

It was noted that Warner does not have the staff to do that, it’s an open question as to whether we would require a 

preliminary conceptual consultation and/or design review prior to an application coming in, and that other communities that 

require that tend to have a lot of development.  

Barbara noted that with the scope of the Will Began project, the Planning Board contacted Central NH Regional Planning to 

review it and set up an escrow account to cover the cost. 

Chairman Frost said that the objective of having Planning Board members review applications prior to the notice is to be 

able to notify the applicant of any glaring deficiencies and allow them the opportunity to pull the application until they can 

correct those problems or to proceed with that knowledge. 

5. NEW BUSINESS 
Planning Board Representative to Economic Development Committee – Chairman Frost noted that Selectman 

Dabuliewicz had passed out a charter for this committee and there is concurrence among the Board of Selectmen there should 

be a Planning Board representative on the committee.  

Ben noted the Board of Selectmen is looking for a recommendation from the Planning Board. Discussion ensued with 

Barbara recommending Peter Anderson, it was part of his platform when he was running for Board of Selectmen and he has 

been on the Planning Board for over a year. Peter said he would like to recommend Barbara and felt she was a more qualified 

representative due to her knowledge of many years of the town’s history and its development and the fact that she had 

participated in the 2006 Charrette.  

Barbara said she was already on the Master Plan Subcommittee and didn’t feel she could do both. Ken Milender asked if 

Peter could serve on the committee, given he is an alternate to the Planning Board and Chairman Frost stated  procedurally 

and legally it doesn’t make any difference.  

Chairman Frost asked the Board to make a motion on the recommendation. Ken Milender made a MOTION that the Board 

recommend Peter Anderson as their representative to the fledgling Economic Development Advisory Committee. Don Hall 

seconded the motion. A voice vote was taken with the result of a unanimous yes. 

Capital Improvements Committee –Chairman Frost stated he has chaired this subcommittee for the past two years and as 

the Board Chair, would prefer not to chair the CIP Committee again. He volunteered to serve on it and asked who would be 

interested in serving on the committee and who would like to chair it. 

Peter Anderson, James Gaffney and Don Hall volunteered to serve on the committee and Peter Anderson offered to be the 

chair.  

Don Hall asked Chairman Frost to give a dissertation of how he felt this years CIP process went and said he was a bit 

bothered by the antics that went on. Ben stated he agreed with Dons sentiment and knows Don has expressed a desire to get 

the CIP Committee out to the department to look at the equipment at issue and view the buildings. Chairman Frost said it is 

an excellent idea but the committee was compromised by time this past year which is why the CIP Committee is on the 

agenda now and not in two months, so to get an early start. Chairman Frost said he would like to see less reliance directly on 

the Town Administrator. He should be a member of the committee but the committee should be hearing directly from the 

department heads as opposed to through him. 



 

May 2, 2016 Meeting Minutes as approved by the Planning Board 6/6/16          4 of 6 

   

 

Don said we really haven’t talked about it as a Board as to what happened this year and the results. Chairman Frost said the 

document this past year was better than the previous one but he still isn’t satisfied with the format and the collection and 

processing of information and feels we could do a much better job.  

The forms need to be simplified and there should be a minimum of reprocessing of information. The department heads 

should be able to fill out a form and that information be used by the CIP Committee as opposed to reworking it into another 

form multiple times. Chairman Frost offered to work through the forms with Peter. 

Peter said his concern is around the forms and that last year Ben spent an inordinate amount of time reworking them. They 

are far too complex the way they are laid out. The department heads should know their needs for the next five years and then 

could be interviewed by the CIP Committee. Don noted one issues that arose this year was there were department heads that 

presented things and then they were isolated from the procedure which is out of context. 

Selectman Dabuliewicz asked for clarification. Peter Anderson stated that in one case the department head was overrun by 

the Town Administrator and didn’t get to express things. Don said in some instances that created a great deal of hostility 

amongst the rest of the troops because word spread fast. Peter said the CIP Committee needs to be a stronger force. 

James said that whatever comes out of the CIP this year may help with some of the things that have arisen as a result of last 

year, not just with the CIP but other things related to the budgeting process. He said he knows multiple departments that are 

going to be forced to be asked for more money next year because of things being altered. It seems to have caused some 

problems from what he has heard directly from several people. 

Selectman Dabuliewicz asked for more specifics as far as things being altered because the Board of Selectmen decides what 

budget to recommend. James said he cannot because it would violate the trust that several people put in him. Selectman 

Dabuliewicz stated he hoped the difficulty in dealing with that sort of thing is appreciated and that he is hearing the same sort 

of thing from some members of the Budget Committee and the Board of Selectmen are looking closely at altering their own 

process, especially the timing so that it isn’t so jammed at the end. 

Chairman Frost asked the Planning Board to bear in mind what the role of the CIP is and that it’s strictly an advisory 

document that is supposed to serve to provide information to the Budget Committee and the Board of Selectmen as they 

develop their recommended budgets. He noted it’s also a planning document that should figure into and reflect what they are 

doing with the Master Plan.  

Peter Anderson said that as a committee they made no changes to the department recommendations. Chairman Frost said they 

made no changes to the numbers but did make changes to the ranking of them. James said he recalls there were some 

discussions about how things were calculated which we may want to revisit and that what Don mentioned is key, the CIP 

Committee needs to be able to go directly to department heads to get information. That will allow the CIP documentation to 

serve as a source of information to help steer good decisions. 

Barbara said that a representative of the Budget Committee presented to the Board of Selectmen a tentative schedule and the 

CIP presentation to the Budget Committee is scheduled for September/October. Also, at that same meeting something was 

said about the departments heads working on the CIP forms now so if the committee is thinking of changing them…. 

Chairman Frost asked who had said they could work on the forms and Barbara responded she thought it was the Town 

Administrator.  

Selectman Dabuliewicz noted nothing is resolved, the proposal from the Budget Committee is for November presentation of 

the CIP and that is their proposed meeting schedule but the Board of Selectmen hasn’t agreed to that. It was asked at that 

meeting that someone give the Board of Selectmen a proposed schedule and they haven’t seen one yet.  

Chairman Frost said there are a few tasks that need to be undertaken by the CIP Committee. One is to ask the Budget 

Committee for its nominated member to serve on it and historically there has been a member of the public at large which is 

great if we can find someone to do that. He noted the scheduling of meetings presents a challenge. 

Selectman Dabuliewicz clarified that the intent to begin with is to revise forms and Chairman Frost said that is his 

recommendation to the Chair which he’s happy to help with. 

6. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS 
Master Plan Subcommittee – Chairman Frost noted the Board had the subcommittees March 30

th
 and April 18

th
 meeting 

minutes. The Subcommittee scheduled their next meeting for May 18
th
 at 7:30. 

7. COMMUNICATIONS AND MISCELLANOUS 
Chairman’s Report - Chairman Frost brought forth HB 1202 and explained it is a very simple statutory change which  

changes the number of days for an application to be submitted to the Planning Board from 15 days to 21 days prior to the 

meeting at which they are intending to be heard by the Board.  



 

May 2, 2016 Meeting Minutes as approved by the Planning Board 6/6/16          5 of 6 

   

 

 

He noted this has been adopted by the House and the Senate without change and he can’t imagine the Governor will veto it 

so it will become law 60 days after it is signed. Sometime this summer the law will change. This is what he was referring to 

for the additional window Planning Board members will have to review an application. Chairman Frost noted we will have to 

change a lot of documents to comport to the statutory change.  

Chairman Frost stated the Planning Boards regular workshop meeting is May 16
th
. He and Selectman Carson have 

communicated regarding a request from Market Basket to meet with the Board of Selectmen. The Board of Selectmen would 

like to ensure the Planning Board is able to attend so Chairman Frost suggested that the meeting be held on the 16
th
. 

Selectman Dabuliewicz noted it will posted and be held at 7:00 p.m. Ben clarified that this will not be an official meeting of 

the Planning Board and Board members will sit in the audience.  

Chairman Frost said he had told Selectman Carson if Market Basket wants to fast track this project they can give the 

information to the Land Use Secretary which is the legal process. If they want to do a Preliminary Conceptual Consultation 

or a Design Review, they are welcome to or they can submit an application for consideration.  

Selectman Dabuliewicz stated what they are going to talk about is the location of the liquor store and enlarging Aubuchon. 

The July meeting was discussed with Lois Lord confirming it is on the meeting date list as being held on July 11
th
.  Chairman 

Frost said we will only have one meeting in July with no work session.  

Compliance Officer Inspection Reports – There were none. 

Determination of Site Plan Review Applications – The Land Use Secretary stated no new applications had been submitted. 

  

Chairman Frost said he has been thinking about how we deal with Site Plan Reviews and believes the Planning Board should 

be making a similar determination regarding developments of regional impact. Under the statue, we are required to make a 

yes or no determination of that. Most of the time the answer will be no but when the answer is yes then we are obliged to 

notify the effected municipality and the Regional Planning Commission. They are entitled to abutter notification, not to have 

legal standing for the purposes of appeal but so they have legal standing for the purposes of providing information. They can 

submit written testimony or provide testimony in person.  

Ben continued, as with most Planning Boards we have not been carefully making those judgements but should with every 

application. The first time we do this, we will want to review the statute as we do. 

Selectmen’s Representative Report – Selectman Dabuliewicz reviewed the meeting with Market Basket on May 16
th
.  

He noted he received an email today from the Town Administrator regarding use of the Planning Boards escrow account 

which has a lot of detail about why it was done. The bottom line is if this is still a concern of the Planning Boards we should 

set up a separate account for that purpose.  

Chairman Frost said there are two reasons a separate account should be set up which are; number one for purposes of an audit 

trail and the second reason is it is a Planning Board account for their escrows of development and if money is moving in and 

out of it for other purposes, then it makes it more difficult for the Planning Board to monitor what is in there and for what 

purpose.   

Barbara Annis said she is concerned and there have been times when there were two escrows for two different projects in that 

account and they kept track of it. If you add another fund, it would be hard to keep them separate.  

Selectman Dabuliewicz said he would let the Board of Selectmen know that another account needs to be set up. 

He noted that bids for the roundabout will be opened on Thursday the 5
th
 at 2:00 p.m. in the lower Town Hall meeting room. 

The Board of Selectmen is talking about having some work done on the Town Hall lawn which may involve removing some 

trees which always raises big issues. The Chairman of the Select Board is pushing this and there is a Town Hall 

beautification fund which will fund some of this.  There are also some folks who are willing to contribute to that. The goal is 

not to use any of the Operating Budget to support this project. Originally one person made a presentation and there are other 

quotes being solicited for the work to be done. The guess of the cost is around $7,000 in addition to ongoing maintenance 

costs.  

Selectman Dabuliewicz stated the purchase of the Fire Station site closed on April 26
th
.  

8. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Audience Gerry Marsh asked if there was going to be a sprinkler system installed in the new lawn which Selectman 

Dabuliewicz confirmed. Gerry said if they do that the Farmers Market vendors won’t be able to pound stakes in the ground. 

Selectman Dabuliewicz responded, I wouldn’t say that and the Select Board Chairman has been talking with the Farmers 



 

May 2, 2016 Meeting Minutes as approved by the Planning Board 6/6/16          6 of 6 

   

 

Market representative for input on the project as it will require them not to use the lawn for part of the time initially. The 

idea is to get it done in such a way that everything will be established before the Fall Foliage Festival but he will take that 

point and raise it with the Board of Selectmen when they talk about it again. 

James Gaffney asked to speak on the situation with Ajax Auto and that he would personally love to see all components of 

Warner town and Government qualify folks making complaints if they are going to act upon them. If someone is going to be 

asked to justify or explain something to the town or an agent of the town, they should have the opportunity to know who is 

accusing them of whatever it may be. 

As a citizen, he would like to see any seemingly anonymous complaints or comments made, be part of the official record 

including source details such as the IP Address and consider not acting on them if they are truly anonymous. 

Chairman Frost said he shared that concern with the exception of cases where public health and safety is involved. He said 

that colored his perception of this matter because the people making the allegations weren’t willing to state who they were. 

We don’t have a policy on this. 

Don Hall reiterated that if Lois has the time and can go back and find that information on the previous owner of the business 

to be put into Mr. Turcottes files. He hasn’t deviated at all from the original business. 

Selectman Dabuliewicz commented that based on the timeline given, the Board of Selectmen’s office forwarded the email to 

the Land Use Office and someone drove by there. The result of all that was an email from the Land Use Office saying there 

were no violations. Subsequent to that Rick Davies raised the issue which is how it got to the Planning Board. 

Chairman Frost said what is missing is that there was a communication from someone to Rick; it may have been a former 

Chairman of the ZBA who had a concern. He said we should consider the adoption of a standing policy that this Board does 

not respond to anonymous complaints with the exception of issues relative to public health and safety. That really should be 

a matter for the Board of Selectmen but we will take it up at the next meeting. He said he will work on a draft policy for the 

next meeting. 

Ben said at the next meeting he would also like to review the task timeline of projects for this year which Rick Davies 

generated.  

9. ADJOURN 

Chairman Frost declared the meeting adjourned the meeting at 8:20 p.m. 


